




































































I think Sr. Berthe is very well suited to the school as well as Sr. Stanislaus, 

but the latter must be withdrawn later for the orphanage [Homerton].128 

Kirtling was in the diocese of Northampton at that time and the Servants of the 

Sacred Heart were invited to take over a small school and to run an orphanage under 

the patronage of the Eleventh Baron North and his wife, Lady Frederica.129 The 

Norths were recent converts to the Catholic faith, having been received into the 

Church at Brompton Oratory in 1868 by Fr. Phillip Gordon, Cong. Orat. The latter 

was associated with the Kirtling mission from the beginning and celebrated Mass in 

the temporary church there on 28th July, 1871.130 

It is not known how the Servants of the Sacred Heart came to be invited to serve the 

Kirtling mission, but it is reasonable to assume that Fr. Gordon was instrumental in 

their coming. He belonged to the Association of Compassion which was set up for 

the maintenance of orphans, and he may have come into contact with the Sisters in 

the course of their work among poor children in London. 

The Almshouses in Kirtling where the Sisters cared for orphans can still be seen 

today. They were built in 1847 by the Second Marquis of Bute (another patron of the 

Congregation) at the request of his wife, daughter of George Augustus North.131 

From the Founder's account, 132 it would appear that Lady Frederica North closely 

supervised the Sisters' work with the orphans. Any problems, and there were many, 

had to be addressed to her by Mother in London. According to Lord 

North (Eleventh Baron), the orphanage and school closed towards the end of 1876, 

"when the present system of conducting the school was determined" .133 "The present 
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system" referred to the 1870 Education Act which required inspectors to determine 

whether or not a school should continue if it had not achieved government standards. 

The convent at Kirtling, remote from the Provincial House in London, could not have 

been an easy mission for Sisters Berthe, Stanislaus and Mary of Nazareth. We only 

have fleeting glimpses of what life was like for them. Travel by train from London to 

Newmarket was slow and uncomfortable and the road to Kirtling winding and bleak. 

The wide stretches of hedge-bound fields must have added to their sense of isolation 

in the heart of the English countryside. Within three years of their arrival, tragedy 

struck the small community when Sr. Berthe died on 17th Feb. 1876.134 Six months 

prior to her death, the Founder had advised Mother Frangoise de Sales to allow her 

to go home for a few days.135 This is the only inkling there is of her being ill. Her 

remains were the first to be interred in the new Catholic Cemetery at the Church of 

Our Lady and St. Phillip,136 very close to the scene of her final apostolate. Her name, 

too, is the first entry in the Register of Deaths for the recently founded mission at 

Kirtling. Sr. Berthe's grave was marked by a simple cross, which, on the request of 

the Founder, was removed and taken to the Homerton Chapel137 when the Servants 

of the Sacred Heart withdrew from Kirtling. 

Further north in Boston, Lincolnshire (diocese of Nottingham), Fr. Braun attempted 

to establish another small foundation. Again, its aim was to meet the educational 

needs of poor children. The school at Boston had been built by Fr. Chepy, another 

emigre, between 1854 and 1865.138 The question must be asked: Why did the 

Founder, at that time, seek to spread the Congregation to a location so remote from 
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the newly established Provincial House in London? A possible explanation may be 

assumed from his meeting with Fr. Edward Bagshawe, Cong. Orat. on the English 

National Pilgrimage to Paray-le-Monial, 2nd Sept. 1873.139 This pilgrimage was led by 

Bishop Vaughan (later Cardinal) of Salford, and included members of the aristocracy, 

for example, Lord Beaumont and the Duke of Norfolk, who were already patrons and 

benefactors of the Servants of the Sacred Heart. The following year, Fr. Bagshawe 

was appointed Bishop of Nottingham. He had already been active in London on 

behalf of the care of poor children and had come to national prominence when he 

won the right for Catholic priests to visit patients in hospitals and workhouses, in 

which they were "placed under vexations and restrictions by the authorities."140 

It was at the invitation of Bishop Bagshawe that the Servants of the Sacred Heart 

came to Boston in 1875. There are references in the Founder's letters to his anxiety 

about his inability to provide appropriately qualified teaching Sisters. He reiterated to 

Mother Fran~ise, the Provincial, that "we are not a teaching Congregation", but 

added: "This will be an exception" .141 He sent three Sisters to Boston - Sr. 

Jean-Marie, the Superior, with Srs. Camille and Suzanne. Ever mindful of the 

Congregation's mission to the poor, Fr. Sabela, Parish Priest at Boston, was requested 

by the Founder to pay one Sister to visit the workhouse and to care for the poor and 

sick.142 Despite the Founder's insistence that "the house in Boston must be kept 

open", it was, like Kirtling, short-lived, and the Sisters were withdrawn at the end of 

1877.143 

At the time when the missions at Kirtling and Boston were struggling to survive, Fr. 
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Braun directed Mother Fran~ise to visit prospective foundations in Wales.144 One of 

these foundations came under the patronage of the Marquis of Bute, and Mother 

Fran~ise was instructed to send him "really good Sisters" .145 

The first of the Welsh missions was at Raglan, Monmouthshire. Evidence from the 

Cardiff Archdiocesan Archives indicates that the Servants of the Sacred Heart came 

to teach in the Catholic School in the mid 1870s. They were invited by Fr. Delarue, a 

refugee from France, who was chaplain to the Herbert (formerly Jones) family at 

Llanarth Court. They were one of the biggest landowners in the area and had 

maintained a Catholic school on their estate since 1774. They also built the church, 

still known as Llanarth.146 

Mother Anatolia and two Sisters came to Raglan to live in a small convent attached 

to the school. Two of them were teachers and one visited the poor. They struggled 

to survive on an allowance of £6 per annum from the Herbert family. They were 

expected to live on the money gained as a result of reaching an acceptable standard 

during regular school inspections. This was often reduced or not forthcoming because 

a large number of Irish children were admitted after the famine, and these had no 

previous education. The Sisters resorted to taking in laundry, sewing and embroidery 

and selling what they could produce. After eight years of toil and effort, it was 

decided that they should leave.147 

Despite continued setbacks, Mother Fran~ise, urged on by her love of the Sacred 

Heart and gifted with unique faith, extended the Congregation further into Wales. 

36 



l""l 

The second foundation was at Aberdare and had outreaches in Hirwaun and 

Mountain Ash. Like other Bute foundations, it was intended to serve the needs of 

the families of miners and industrial workers living in harsh conditions in the valleys 

of 19th century South Wales. The Sisters set up a dispensary at Aberdare but they 

had to wait until 1880 before a new Bute hospital was complete. 

The school at Aberdare was to fare better than the one in Raglan. Like most 

Catholic schools, it was closely linked to the Parish Church. The Superior of the 

mission was Fr. Hamelin, another emigre from France, who also served the outlying 

Mass centres of Hirwaun and Mountain Ash. There was increasing growth in the 

Catholic population in all these areas as Irish immigrants came to work in the coal 

mines. Although poor and at a material disadvantage, they had a strong Catholic 

faith and desired to have their children taught according to their religion. 

Fr. Hamelin saw the need to establish a Community of Sisters at Aberdare, and in 

Oct. 1877, he set out terms of an agreement with Mother Fran~ise at Homerton. He 

was clearly an outstanding pastor and a gifted organiser. This agreement spelled out 

in minute detail the Communities duties and responsibilities, as well as the mission's 

part of the contract. It was approved by Bishop J. S. Brown 0.S.B., Bishop of 

Newport and Menevia. Despite the Founder's reluctance to supply teaching Sisters, 

the mission school agreement clearly states: 

The Community undertakes to teach at the Catholic Elementary Schools at 

Aberdare, Mountain Ash and Hirwaun, and to provide a sufficient number of 

certificated and other teachers for the requirement of the Elementary 
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Education Act (1870), and to provide all requirements necessary to obtain the 

Annual Government Capitation Grant, which grant as well as school pence 

[fees collected from the pupils] and all other resources of school account 

revenue should be the property of the mission.148 

The agreement did not deviate from the Congregation's original apostolate, which 

opted for the poor. Three Sisters, at least two of them English-speaking, were to 

start the foundation. Besides teaching in the school, they were to visit the poor and 

the sick in their homes in the three districts mentioned. They would also undertake 

religious instruction, and, if required, "would undertake all kinds of instruction, 

night-school, industrial schools, in connection with the mission". In keeping with the 

Congregation's newly approved Constitution, they would give their services gratis to 

"the poor and the sick who they may be called to attend".149 Fr. Hamelin would pay 

the Sisters thirty-three pounds a year and "each Sister, certificated or uncertificated", 

would receive payment quarterly, "with which they could provide for their food and 

clothing" .150 

In common with many Catholic schools in 19th and 20th century Britain, St. 

Margaret's at Aberdare had to face a huge struggle to survive. But Fr. Hamelin was 

not one to yield to outside pressures. Having obtained a grant from the Education 

Committee in 1878 towards the provision of a large room 75 feet by 70 feet, he still 

had to face the hostility of the Aberdare School Board, who observed that there was 

ample accommodation for Catholic children in the district. Like so many other 

pioneers of Catholic education in England and Wales, Fr. Hamelin won his case. The 
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- Servants of the Sacred Heart continued their teaching apostolate at the school, and in 

1885, Sr. Gonzaga became its first Sister Headteacher. Her service to the school and 

to the mission was outstanding, and today a plaque to her memory can be seen in the 

Parish Church.151 St. Margaret's has continued to flourish up to the present day, 

despite its humble beginnings and early struggles. In 1997, it moved to new premises 

at Ty-Fry. 

It was a happy event in Aberdare when in 1880 the new Bute Hospital was officially 

opened and run by the Servants of the Sacred Heart from Homerton. This increased 

outreach to the coal miners and their families was welcomed in a disadvantaged yet 

vibrant industrial valley in Wales. 

Bishop Charles Graham, in his History of the Plymouth Diocese, states: "The 

Servants of the Sacred Heart from Westminster took on the Poor Schools, lst May 

1876". This quotation reflects the pace and energy with which Fr. Braun continued to 

extend the apostolate of the ten-year-old Congregation in England and Wales. The 

Bishop was referring to the small school at Chideock in Dorset, where the Sisters' 

patrons were members of the well-known Catholic Weld family, who were related to 

Bishop Vaughan, and with whom Fr. Braun was acquainted. The Founder himself 

appointed the first Superior of this small mission, Sr. Simplienne, a tireless Sister on 

the quest. He believed that "her gentleness and ·piety are likely to lead to the 

conversion of a large number of Protestants.11 151 

A few miles west of Chideock, also in the Plymouth Diocese, the Sisters took charge 
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of another small school at Lyme Regis. Here, the Bellingham (later Talbot) family 

supported them and provided them with a house when their convent at Uplyne had 

fallen in. To enhance their meagre income from the school, the Sisters took in lady 

boarders to support themselves. 

Records of these teaching missions are sketchy, but Bishop Graham of Plymouth, 

reporting on his visitation, 13th Oct. 1899, stated that at Lyme Regis Convent things 

were going well: 

The Superior, lately from Chideock, Sr. Edward, with three Sisters from 

Ireland, of whom two teach in the school. They seem a united and happy 

Community and all enjoying good health. In the school, there are fifteen 

Catholics and thirty Protestants on the books.152 

These small missions at Chideock and Lyme Regis were part of a great endeavour by 

Religious Congregations exiled from France to establish convents and Catholic 

schools, while, at the same time, starting off a number of small rural missions. 

A similar foundation was made in the Birmingham Archdiocese at Blackmore Forest, 

near Upton-upon-Severn in Worcestershire. This was also a small village school and 

the Servants of the Sacred Heart taught there, assisting Fr. Reynolds, from the late 

1870s until 1885. A letter dated 17th Nov. 1882 from Archbishop Ullathome of 

Birmingham would suggest that the school was in serious financial difficulties.153 

Despite various setbacks, .Fr. Braun continued to go ahead with further foundations in 

France, Germany, Austria, Belgium and Britain. He even contemplated sending 
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Sisters to the southern States of America to take care of "a black children's 

orphanage" .154 This was most likely to have been his enthusiastic response to the 

Missionary Society of St. Joseph, recently founded at Mill Hill, London, by his great 

friend and advisor, Bishop Vaughan of Salford. Writing from London to Mother 

Gertrude in Argenteuil, 2nd Oct. 1878, he described a visit from Fr. Benoit Peter 

Ludovico, the Bishop of Salford's secretary and later Superior of Mill Hill : 

I've promised him a few Sisters. I now have a clear idea of the foundation 

which I am more inclined than ever to accept. This priest is giving a huge 

farm with animals and all the equipment for building an orphanage for black 

girls.155 

Sadly, this foundation never materialised, but his desire to go to a faraway place to 

help disadvantaged children reflects the breadth of his missionary vision, which was to 

see the Congregation extend, not just in five countries, but eventually in five 

continents. 

From 1877 until his death in 1882, Fr. Braun's general health, never robust, began to 

give serious cause for concern. Dr. Genevieve Nave, in her diagnosis of the 

Founder's symptoms in the late 1870s stated: "Fr. Victor Braun's underlying illness 

was typical tubercolosis", and she wrote: 

From this point until his death he showed extreme courage, forever beating 

his fatigue levels, praying to be able to fulfil his aposto]ic charism.156 

His extraordinary fortitude enabled him to make one of his largest foundations in 

England during this period. In Jan. 1877, he accepted a request from Mr. Rimmel, 
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Director of the French Hospital in Leicester Square, to send three Sisters from 

France to take charge, Sr. Francesca (Matron), Sisters Almeda and Celine.157 This 

hospital was close to the mission run by the Marist Fathers and had previously been 

in the charge of the Sisters of St. Vincent de Paul. A school for French children was 

attached to the mission, also two youth clubs, one "for fifteen French children of 

Mary".1ss The Founder saw this foundation as "a powerful bond with our houses in 

France".159 There is evidence from his letters that the Leicester Square apostolate 

provided a ray of happiness for him during these troubled times:"The Sisters are well 

paid at the school" and "Sr. Elvire is presiding over a huge hospital ward".160 From 

London, he wrote to the Superior C'.rtmeral in Argenteuil: 

Pray and thank the Sacred Heart for this double foundation of great 

importance especially the school, because several other good works for the 

poor will be attached to it.161 

True to the Founder's vision, this hospital in the heart of London served not only the 

French community, but also Londoners Within its immediate vicinity, well into the 

second half of the 20th century. 

One of the most worrying uncertainties that constantly tested the Founder's faith was 

his fear of having to go into exile in England because of frequent political unrest in 

France. In Dec. 1877, he wrote to Mother Fran~ise in London "Any moment 

without warning I may be obliged to escape and come to you dressed as an English 

gentleman", and he requested that rooms in Homerton should be kept vacant "for our 

French Sisters".162 He had the added anxiety that the Congregation had not yet been 

approved by the French govemment,163 and he instructed Mother Gertrude that in 
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the event of a quick exodus from Argenteuil, his "cashbox should be put elsewhere 

than in your room in case of house searches".164 

The deaths of many young Sisters in the early days of the Congregation were a source 

of much suffering for Fr. Braun. Poor living conditions and enormous stress in their 

lives were obvious contributory factors. He felt keenly the death of Mother Gertrude 

at Argenteuil on 17th Jan. 1881, at the age of thirty-five. This "eldest daughter", as he 

called her, was his first Superior General and closest collaborator during the founding 

years of the Congregation. As if he had a premonition, he prepared for his own 

demise the following year. Characteristically, he planned the appointment of the next 

Superior General, Mother Fran~ise de Sales, in March 1882. He wrote to her on 

2nd Aug. 1881, while she was still in London: 

I'm busy seeing to internal matters ... the organisation of the novitiate, in 

such a way that you will have little to do when you come back here in six or 

eight months time.16s 

His tubercular illness progressed rapidly during 1881, but this did not deter him from 

making his final visit to the hospital Sisters in Vienna, from where he wrote: "The 

spirit of our two hundred Sisters is excellent and all I have is consolation"l66 On 

Ascension Day, 18th May 1882, Fr. Victor Braun's untimely death occurred at the 

Mother House in Argenteuil. He was fifty-seven years of age. 

The motto given by the Founder to the Congregation was: May the Sacred Heart of 

Jesus be everywhere known and loved. This was what gave impetus to all his strivings 

to create what Pope John Paul II called "a civilisation of love". The Sisters were 
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urged to be "missionaries of the Sacred Heart". In 1902, the English Province became 

a separate Congregation with the title 'The Sisters of the Sacred Hearts of Jesus and 

Mary'. Today, in three autonomous branches, the Sisters serve the needy in five 

continents, in France, Germany, Austria, Poland, Czech Republic, England, Wales, 

Scotland, Ireland, U.S.A., South and Central America, the Philippines, Uganda, 

Zambia and Mali. They remain faithful to the Founder's charism to teach and nurse 

the sick, to care for young women and prisoners, to serve immigrants, asylum seekers, 

refugees and Aids victims. 

In 1954, Rev. Mother Antonia Phillips, Superior General of the Sisters of the Sacred 

Hearts of Jesus and Mary, wrote to Bishop George Beck, Bishop of Brentwood, for a 

testimonial of the Congregation's spirit and apostolate, to be sent to Rome for the 

initial stage of Fr. Braun's cause. His Lordship's response reflects quite clearly the 

Founder's legacy to his Sisters: 

... their work is marked by a strong supernatural sense, a happy and friendly 

charity and a devotion particularly to the spiritual needs of those they 

serve.167 

Victor Braun's faith was nourished at St. Avoid, a small town nestling in the 

picturesque Moselle Valley in north-east France, and he still speaks to us across the 

years, reminding us that there is still much to do in· the Lord's vineyard. We cannot 

doubt that his charism, tried and tested, was a fruit of the Holy Spirit. He equated 

his mission to a single-minded seeking of God's Will in all things. In this we are 

reminded of the words of Pope Benedict XVI: 
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-
That indeed is the real meaning of the saints for us, that they are people who 

have ventured upon this experiment of the will of God. To a certain extent, 

they are lights for mankind, signposts to show us what happens, how life can 

be put right.168 

In 19th century England, Fr. Braun left many "signposts" to show how an indomitable 

faith can 'move mountains', and his outstanding contribution to the Catholic Church 

in this period of history lay in the apostolate of the Congregation which he founded, 

an apostolate directed towards the poor and the marginalised and which encompassed 

every aspect of works of charity. 
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